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Address: 	 143 Bulkley Street

Historic Name:  	Llewellyn Fields

Uses:	 Present: 	 Residential Dwelling

Original: 	 “                            “

Date of Construction:  	1893

Source:  Williamstown:The First 200 Years- RRR Brooks, 
1953; 1894 Atlas of Williamstown

Style/Form:   	 Victorian

 Rooms:               14	

Exterior Material:

Foundation:  	 Brick/Stone

Wall/Trim:       Clapboard	

Roof:  	 Asphalt Shingle

Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  Garage- 1995


Acreage:  	 6.61

Original Owner:  Willard Evans Hoyt



HISTORICAL NARRATIVE 

   

Christened “Llewellyn Fields,” the residence at 143 Bulkley Street was built in 1893 for Willard Evans Hoyt 
and his family. It was subsequently an estate of Samuel Jones and of Robert C. Sprague, who both at 
one time owned the North Adams factory buildings now known worldwide as MassMOCA.




Llewellyn Fields


Willard Hoyt developed his estate out of three land purchases 
made from 1893-94 from Patrick Lally, William Lally, and Keyes 
Danforth.


Hoyt was already wealthy when we came to Williamstown at a 
young age.  He had been born in 1870 in Stamford, CT, to Joseph 
Blachley Hoyt, a prominent leather merchant, and his wife Susann 
(Evans). He graduated from Williams College in 1892 and became 
engaged to Julia Jerome of Williamstown a few months later. They 
wed and took up residence at Llewellyn Fields.  Julia gave birth to 
their first child, Susan, in 1894. Willard Hoyt Jr followed in 1899, 
and youngest daughter Julia in 1905. 


A barn shown on the grounds on 1894 Williamstown atlas predated 
the house, leftover from the earlier Lally farm. Hoyt had offered the 
old barn up free to anyone who would take it away, but it ultimately 
ended up burning down in an early July 1895 fire. Some 
excitement in 
town followed 
the discovery 
by workers of 
what they at 
first thought to 

be human bones in the ruins, and some thought a 
“tramp” may have been sleeping in the barn at the 
time. Hoyt declared they were chicken bones.


The barn was cleared away and by the time of the 
1904 Berkshire atlas, more buildings can be seen on 
the estate, including structures that are now situated 
at 175 and 141 Bulkley. One of these is a house built 
for his coachmen in 1897. Hoyt also had a keen 
interest in horses, and was quartering at least 8 of 
them on the property in the 1890s.


Hoyt attended Albany Law School after Williams and worked briefly in the office of Judge Sanborn 
Tenney. He subsequently worked as Treasurer of Williams College from 1904 until 1935, and as secretary 
of its Institute of Politics. He was well known in town, where it was considered traditional for him to hand 
out free firecrackers to kids on Independence Day. Julia Hoyt was heavily involved with St John’s 
Episcopal Church, where she headed various committees, and with the local Good Will Club.


In 1917, daughter Susan married Charles Griffith, a recent Dartmouth graduate on route to serve in WWI. 
Later he became a music publisher, and the couple ultimately settled in Vermont. Willard Jr attended 
Williams (class of ’23), where he was captain of the varsity baseball team. He married Florence Palmer 
and moved to Greenwich, Connecticut, where he started a successful building company, and died in 
1960. Julia attended Miss Halls and was “prominent in local social circles,” according to the North Adams 
Transcript. She married David Dycke in 1928.


1904 Atlas

1894 Atlas
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Perhaps the most significant social event at the home during Hoyt’s time was in 1921, when Mr and Mrs 
Hoyt hosted a “musicale” reception for some distinguished guests at Williams that summer. Attendees 
included British statesman and ambassador Viscount James Bryce; Baron Sergei A. Korff, exiled Russian 
nobility and the last deputy governor of Finland before the 1917 revolution; Count Paul Teleki, who’d just 
finished his first stint as Prime Minister of Hungary. 


Hoyt had been assisting college president Harry Garfield as he feted the array of dignitaries in town that 
Summer, there for the first month long stint of Garfield’s experimental Institute of politics. The dignitaries 
were houses on campus and at various faculty homes. Earlier that week, Mr and Mrs Hoyt had also 
attended a party with this trio thrown by Bulgarian ambassador Stephen Panaretov, which also included 
major Italian and French political leaders Tomasso Tittoni and Achille Viallate. These latter may also have 
been present at the Hoyt house, as news items about the luncheon indicate allude to “other guests,” and 
they had mostly attended the month’s itinerary as a group.


Nicknamed the “New England Versailles,” the Boston Globe called this confluence “one of the greatest 
gatherings of international figures since the peace conference broke up in 1919.”  At Llewellyn Fields, the 
European leaders were treated to a parlor recital consisting of his daughter Susan on playing piano, with 
singing by her husband Charles. The occasion was widely reported locally, and in New York and Boston 
papers.


In 1927, Hoyt sold the estate to Samuel and Dorothy Jones and moved to home of his old boss, Sanborn 
Tenney, on Park Street. The following year, though, he built a new mansion on land across the street from 
his old estate. He and Julia remained there until 1945, when they relocated to New York City. Julia Hoyt 
died there in 1946, Willard in 1948; both are buried in Williamstown.


The home’s next owner, Dr. Samuel Jones, was born in North Adams to Charles and Anna (Mansfield) 
Jones. After graduating Drury in 1905 he attended technicals schools, and became employed by William 
Gallup who ran the Arnold Print Works (now MassMOCA). He went to Switzerland to study at the 
University of Basel, where he earned his Ph.D. before returning to work at Arnold Print Works, at plants 
the North Adams company owned in Germany and Russia.


He also married Gallup’s daughter Dorothy, and later, became President and controlling stockholder of 
the company upon Gallup’s retirement in 1926. The company by this time had already receded 
significantly from its peak in the early 1900s, when it was worth eight million dollars, and employed over 
3,000 people. When it was finally liquidated in 1942, it sold for $1.9 million. 


Arnold Print Works, built up between 1871-1890. Later Sprague Electric Company, now MassMOCA
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Samuel and Dorothy’s move to Llewellyn Fields followed shortly after his promotion to president. At this 
time, the pair already had four children, the youngest two years old.  Eldest daughter Florence was 
followed by Edward, then  Anna,  and Dorothy.


Florence was married in the the Fall of 1928, to Bryan Tillinghast Adriance, a Williams graduate from a 
prominent local family. The wedding was held in the drawing room of the Bulkley Street house, a “simple 
but impressive” ceremony with family and close friends, with a luncheon reception after. She later 
remarried to H.E. Bye, and moved to Gardner.


Anna attended Skidmore in the late 1930s, and married Robert H. Clark soon after, with whom she had 
two sons. She entered the Seaview Nursing Home in Rowley at age 41, and died there 9 years later, in 
1967.


Edward left in 1942 for the war, where he served in the North Africa until 1945, most of it at Mallard field. 
After the war he moved to Daytona Beach where he worked as an accountant, and married Betty Finley. 
He died there in 1964. 


The last surviving Jones sibling to grow up at Llewellyn Fields was Dorothy (1925-2005). A graduate of 
Colby Junior College -“Dottie,” as she was known- was an accomplished equestrian in her youth. She 
married Albert Trudel in 1949 and settled in Glens Fall, NY, where she was president of the Glens Falls 
Hospital Guild and a volunteer for Red Cross, as well as a mother of five.


At the time of his death in 1954, Samuel’s estate was valued at $631,000. Most went to Dorothy- with 
other major bequests as follows: $50,000 to her daughter Florence (at that time divorced), another 
$50,000 to his longtime chauffeur, Robert Hammond, and another $50,000 to an Adams masseuse 
named Edith Coussole, in acknowledgement of  “6 years faithful service during the period of his physical 
impairment.


In October 1955 Dorothy Jones sold the main house on 12 acres to Mr & Mrs R.C. Sprague. She retained 
a tract with a small house on it from the original Hoyt estate for her own occupancy. 


Robert Chapman Sprague- R.C. or Bob to most-  was the founder 
of Sprague Electric Company and in his later years a passionate 
advocate of Elm trees. Twenty years before he bought the 
Llewellyn Field house, he had already acquired the later 1929 Hoyt 
home nearby (118 Bulkley). Then in 1949, he bought 12 acres of 
meadowland that had been part of Hoyt’s original estate from 
Samuel Jones.


In a way, the gradual absorption of Jones’ Williamstown estate 
mirrored the way Sprague’s company had absorbed the buildings 
Jones had controlled in North Adams. Sprague Electric Company 
began purchasing commercial property from Arnold Print Works as 
early as 1929, and acquired the bulk of the rest of their real estate 
in the 1940s.


Surprisingly, the Spragues first put the Llewellyn Field house to use 
as a new headquarters for the Massachusetts wing of the Civil Air 
Patrol, of which his son Lt. Colonel Robert C. Sprague Jr, was 
briefly wing commander in 1956.


The relocation of the CAP state headquarters to Llewellyn Field 
was a brief and a curious affair, the full politics of which may never 
be known. On December 2, national CAP and Air Force officials 
denied a rumor [stemming from a typed news announcement from 
an unknown source, delivered to the Boston office of the 

Associated Press] that RC Sprague Jr was being promoted to succeed Col. John Slate of Saugus, saying 
the announcement was “without foundation.” CAP said Slate was still wing commander, and further 
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denied that the headquarters was being moved from Hanscom 
AB in Bedford to North Adams, where Sprague’s Northern 
Berkshire squadron was based. On December 13, Slate was 
removed, and Sprague’s appointment to replace him announced 
to newspapers the following day. Robert Jr. had a proposal to 
relocate the Massachusetts capital to Bulkley Street submitted 
and approved by the Williamstown Select Board by December 
23.


In early 1956, Robert Jr. appointed at least 18 new members to 
the wing’s command staff, including his wife Dorothy. The staff 
quickly got busy consolidating CAP operations for the whole 
state into the house at 143 Bulkley Street. Members in the 
eastern part of the state were outraged, however, by the 
relocation and the removal of Slate as commander. Two hundred 
members (about 1/3 of the total membership) effectively dropped 
out of the Massachusetts chapter by April, and were pledging to 
fly to Washington to testify to the CAP Appeals board in protest 
of the changes. In late May, the board voted to reinstate Slate, 
who appealed on the grounds that he was never given any 
official reason for his removal. 




A week after his reinstatement, a spokesman for Slate 
communicated to news outlets that the Colonel Slate would 
expect a mass resignation of Sprague’s appointed wing staff 
“as a matter of military courtesy.” The headquarters was 
relocated back to Hanscom that summer.


After the CAP debacle, the home for many years became a 
guest house for the Sprague estates on Bulkley (Robert Sr and 
Florence at 118 Bulkley, Robert Jr and his family at 108). The 
property was maintained pristinely, with the grounds overseen 
by caretaker Leno Daldoss for more than a quarter century. 
Daldoss, who worked there from 1964 to 1991, became a good 
friend to R.C. Sprague Sr (see appendix materials).


The house also served as the listed headquarters for their 
philanthropic arms- the Florence and Robert Sprague 
Foundation, and the Elm Tree Foundation.


The Elm Tree Foundation was Robert Sr’s 1980s crusade to 
repopulate Williamstown’s elm trees, a part the town’s 
traditional landscape that had been decimated by Dutch Elm 
disease. Beginning in 1980, Sprague donated funds and 
enlisted help to remove 126 diseased trees, treat 200 healthy 
ones, and plant 140 new trees. In 1986, Sprague declared the 
mission accomplished and disbanded the foundation.


In 1977, Williamstown undertook a complete renumbering of its 
streets. For many years, phone directories for Williamstown 
show houses on Bulkley Street clustered together with no 

particular coherence or enumeration. No new official numbers 
had been added to the south side of the street in many years, so every house past 25 lacked an actual 
street number. After this renumbering, the Llewellyn Field house finally became 143 Bulkley Street.


1987 was a year of losses for the family.  In April, Robert Jr burned to death when his single engine plane 
struck treetops on approach to the North Adams Airport. The longtime pilot, who had launched the 

Boston Globe 4/24/1956
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Sprague Aviation division of the company, was 63. Two months later, his mother Florence had a stroke at 
their Bulkley Street home, and died at North Adams Regional Hospital on June 1.


R.C. Sprague died at home on September 27, 1991, at age 91.  Accounts vary about exactly which house 
he died in, with the Berkshire Eagle (9/28/91) saying 118 Bulkley but the North Adams Transcript explicitly 
states it occurred at the Llewellyn Fields house at 143, where several sources suggest Robert was 
residing at the time of his death. A reception was also held there, following a large funeral service at St. 
John’s.


In late 1992, the home was sold by the Llewellyn Nominee Trust to the Holland family, its present owners, 
for $1.05 million. Williamstown Assessors Records list its current value at $2,054,000.


Sources: 


Atlas of Williamstown. Miller, D.L., 1894 Williams College Archives: Map Collection

Atlas of Berkshire County. Barnes and Farnham, 1904. Berkshire Athenaeum Collection.


Berkshire Eagle: 7/11/1895;  6/5/1954; 6/23/1954; 12/24/1955; 7/6/1981; 

12/1/1982; 3/17/1991; 9/28/1991; 6/3/1993


Pittsfield Sun 8/31/1893; 


North Adams Transcript: 6/15/1895; 7/6/1895 7/9/1895; 7/22/1897;  10/14/1927; 8/10/1928; 10/4/1945; 
1/26/1946; 1/20/1948; 6/1/1954; 6/2/1955; 4/13/1987; 6/2/1987; 10/1/1991


Registry of Deed, North Berkshire District: Book 212p151; B212p275; B259p259; B513p271; B855p75; 
B1005p95


Brooks, Robert R.R. Williamstown, The First Two Hundred Years. McClelland Press, 1953


Williamstown Assessors Records 


Manning’s Williamstown Directory/ Berkshire County Phone Directory 1930s-1990


US Census Records, 1890-1940
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Viscount James Bryce  (1838-1922) was a journalist 
and historian who became an influential Liberal politician in 
the UK. He served as Chief Secretary of Ireland, a member of 
parliament, and British Ambassador to the United States. 


In 1914, he was raised to peerage as Viscount Bryce of 
Dechmount in the County of Lanark. He spent most of his 
final years as a judge in the international court at The Hague. 
In 1921, he published his last book, Modern Democracy. 
Bryce died in Devon in Jan. 1922, less than 6 months after 
attending the Institute of Politics in Williamstown.


Count Pál János Ede 
Teleki de Szék (1879 – 
1941) was an academic 
historian and a Hungarian 
leader from an aristocratic family in Transylvania. He served his 
first term as Prime Minister of Hungary from 1920-1921, just 
before attending the Institute of Politics in Williamstown. 


His more turbulent second term was in 1939-1941, during 
which Count Teleki attempted to keep the country neutral 
during the early years of Word War II. His legacy is a mixed one 
of half-appeasement, half-resistance to Hitler (including 
allowing an estimated 100,000 Poles to escape across 
Hungary). He committed suicide by gun on the night of 
Germany’s incursion into Hungary 
on April 3, 1941.


Baron Sergei Alexandrovich Korff [S.A. Korff]  
(1876-1924) was a professor of history and political science, as 
well as a minor nobleman of the Russian Empire, and last regional 
Governor of Sweden before the 1917 revolution. He has served 
for a time as president of the University of Helsinki


Baron Korff stayed on seasonally in 
Williamstown until 1924, with his teen 
son Serge, a pioneer astrophysicist 
whose findings led to radiocarbon 
dating for archaeology


Tomasso Tittoni (1855- 1931) 
was the son of a tenant farmer who worked his way up to the top of 
Italian government by age 50. He was President of the Italian Senate 
from September 1919-1929, after serving as Minister of Foreign 
Affairs for a number of years. For 16 day in March 1905, he had been 
interim Prime Minister.  Tittoni backed Mussolini’s early government 
and spent his final year as president of the Royal Academy of Italy, 
the top cultural institution of the fascist government. 
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Stephen Paneretov-  (1853-1931) was a longtime 
professor, diplomat and government minister in Bulgaria. He is 
considered to have played a critical role in maintaining Bulgaria’s 
diplomatic relations with the U.S. during the Wilson 
administration. In 1921, he served as the country’s first 
representative to the League of Nations.


Francois Achille Viallate (1831-1922) was a professor at the 
Free School of Political Science in Paris and a successful 
industrialist. He authored a number of books on political science 
and economics.
























